ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The Circuit Court of Kanawha County erred in granting Defendants West Virginia Board of Osteopathic Medicine and Diana Shepard's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Circuit Court of Kanawha County erred in finding there were no genuine issues of material fact relative to Chalifoux' claims against the West Virginia Board of Osteopathic Medicine ("WVBOM") and Diana Shepard's (collectively referred to as the "WVBOM Respondents") Motion for Summary Judgment based on the doctrine of res judicata.

The Circuit Court relied upon a previous Circuit Court Order entered November 27, 2016 by the late Honorable Charles E. King, Jr. in Civil Action No. 14-C-1504 filed by Chalifoux against only WVBOM (not Shepard) upon a Verified Petition for Permanent Injunction and Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Injunctive Relief. Said Order dismissed said Petition, nothing more.

Civil Action No. 14-C-1504 was not a Complaint for damages. It was not a Complaint against Shepard as the Circuit Court erroneously asserted at paragraph 8 of its Order. The Circuit Court further erred at paragraph 11 of its Order referring to a Motion to Dismiss Civil Action No. 14-C-1504 filed by Chalifoux whereas the Order specifically references a motion by the parties. Nothing in that Order dismissed any

claims at all against Shepard and said Order only dismissed the Verified Petition for Permanent Injunction and Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Injunctive Relief contained in Civil Action No. 14-C-1504, not Chalifoux' claims for damages in this action.

Civil Action No. 14-C-1504 was not a final adjudication on the merits of Chalifoux' claim for damages asserted in this Civil Action, as no damages were asserted by Chalifoux in 14-C-1504, only injunctive relief. Chalifoux could not present a claim for damages in 14-C-1504, filed only weeks after his illegal summary suspension by WVBOM, because at that time, he had not yet suffered any damages. Thus, the standards of Syl. Pt. 4 of Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., 498 S.E.2d 41 (W.Va. 1997) have not been met. Moreover, the instant civil action was filed on June 3, 2016, prior to the dismissal or Civil Action No. 14-C-1504 on November 27, 2016 which Order makes no reference whatsoever to the instant civil action.

Thus, res judicata was not established and the Circuit Court erred in relying on this doctrine as the sole basis for granting the WVBOM Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

2. The Circuit Court of Kanawha County erred in granting Defendants West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources, West Virginia Bureau for Public Health and Letitia Tierney, MD, JD's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Circuit Court of Kanawha County erred in finding there were no genuine issues of material fact relative to Chalifoux' claims against the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources ("WVDHHR"), West Virginia Bureau for Public Health ("WVBPH") and Letitia Tierney, MD, JD's (collectively referred to as the "WVDHHR Respondents") Motion for Summary Judgment based on their assertion of qualified immunity.

Qualified immunity only applies, if at all, to discretionary decisions. W. Virginia Reg'l Jail and Corr. Facility Auth. V.

A.B., 766 S.E.2d 751 (W.Va. 2014) and Clark v. Dunn, 465 S.E.2d 374 (W.Va. 1995).

Chalifoux maintained a claim under 64 CSR 7-7.7 which required the WVBPH and Tierney to maintain the confidentiality of any clinic that is under investigation, as was the case with Chalifoux. A Press Release by WVBPH and Tierney breached that non-discretionary duty of confidentiality.

As the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has acknowledged, "qualified immunity, as opposed to absolute immunity, is not an impenetrable shield that requires toleration of all manner of constitutional and statutory violations by

public officials. Indeed, the only realistic avenue for vindication of statutory and constitutional guarantees when public servants abuse their offices is an action for damages." Hutchison v. City of Huntington, 479 S.E.2d 649, 658 (W.Va. 1996). "[W]hether qualified immunity bars recovery in a civil action turns on the objective legal reasonableness of the action assessed, in light of the legal rules that were clearly established at the time it was taken." Id. at 658-9 (citing State v. Chase Securities, Inc. 424 S.E.2d 591 (W.Va. 1992); Bennett v. Coffman, 361 S.E.2d 465 (W.Va. 1987) (emphasis added).

There are two important facts which trigger liability on the part of Defendants WVDHHR, WVBPH and Tierney despite qualified immunity. First, on March 7, 2014, a meeting occurred between WVBPH, its Ohio counterpart and the Center for Disease Control ("CDC") pertaining to the investigation of Chalifoux. WVBPH concluded that "...there is no evidence of transmission of hepatitis B, hepatitis C, or HIV in this subset of WV patients attending..." Chalifoux' clinic. The report went on to conclude that "On the basis of these findings, WV is recommending that no further action is necessary."

Nevertheless, four months later, a press release was made and Tierney filed a Complaint against Dr. Chalifoux with the West Virginia Board of Osteopathic Medicine ("WVBOM"), violating her

non-discretionary duty of confidentiality. Thus, the WVDHHR

Defendants were not entitled to qualified immunity and summary
the Circuit Court erred in granting their Motion for Summary

Judgment.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Chalifoux is a licensed health care provider in the state of West Virginia and has been so licensed by Respondent West Virginia Board of Osteopathic Medicine ("WVBOM") since September 1, 2004. App. 6. On October 22, 2013, a patient of Petitioners underwent a Right L5 Nerve Root Adhesiolysis with an Epidurogram at Valley Pain Management in McMechen, West Virginia. App. 532, 787. Essentially, Dr. Chalifoux performs an epidural steroid injection, but also utilizes saline administered through a catheter to break up scar tissue in the subject space during the procedure. App. 787. Dr. Chalifoux testified at deposition that, during Ms. Schmidt's procedure, he wore a surgical mask as it was his customary practice to always wear a mask when performing an adhesiolysis procedure. App. 787.

Emergency Department at Ohio Valley Medical Center and was diagnosed and treated for bacterial meningitis. App. 532, 787-788. On or about October 24, 2013, a report regarding this patient's condition was made to Respondent West Virginia Bureau for Public Health ("WVBPH"). App. 532, 788. Following the

patient's diagnosis of bacterial meningitis and the subsequent notice to Respondent WVBPH, WVBPH conducted an investigation into this reported case of *potential* healthcare associated bacterial infection (not blood borne) and the potential for an outbreak or cluster of disease in the community. App. 532-534, 788.

On October 29, 2013, Respondent WVBPH conducted a site inspection at Petitioners' facility (the "first site inspection") and several recommendations concerning Petitioners' App. 532. Following this first site inspection, practices. Respondent WVBPH did not conclude that Petitioners' should be closed or that any licensure action be initiated against either, but rather certain recommendations were made. App. 532. October 28, 2013, Somu Chatterjee, M.D., MPH (a regional epidemiologist employed by the Wheeling-Ohio County Health Department) interviewed Dr. Chalifoux regarding the patient's procedure. Nowhere in his e-mail correspondence concerning that interview to the BPH, or in notes, did Dr. Chatterjee record that Dr. Chalifoux admitted that he did not wear a mask during Ms. Schmidt's procedure. App. 788.

The day after learning that the bacteria involved was streptococcus intermedius, Dr. Bixler (the Director of the Respondent's WVBPH's Division of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, who was charged with leading the investigation of Dr. Chalifoux)

concluded that the patient's infection was "possibly related to not wearing a mask during procedures." App. 788,807. Dr. Bixler's conclusion was apparently based upon her belief that this particular type of bacteria was commonly transmitted in healthcare settings via respiratory droplets from healthcare providers. App. 807.

On October 29, 2013, Dr. Bixler and Sherif Ibrahim, M.D. ("Dr. Ibrahim") led a site inspection (the "first site inspection") of Valley Pain Management. Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim interviewed Dr. Chalifoux. Nurses employed by the BPH and the Marshall County Health Department interviewed a nurse/office manager employed by Valley Pain Management - Ann Goas, RN. No other employees of Valley Pain Management were interviewed or questioned. App. 788.

As documented in Respondent WVBPH's December 11, 2013 report summarizing this site inspection, Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim concluded that Dr. Chalifoux did not wear a surgical mask during the patient's adhesiolysis procedure. App. 789. Dr. Chalifoux denies that he informed Dr. Bixler or Dr. Ibrahim that he did not wear a mask during the patient's procedure specifically or any adhesiolysis procedure. App. 789.

Through the entire course of Respondent WVBPH's investigation, and after notifying numerous area healthcare providers and facilities, Respondent WVBPH never identified another case of bacterial meningitis in Dr. Chalifoux's patient

population. App. 789. In cooperation with Respondent WVBPH's investigatory efforts in this regard, Dr. Chalifoux timely and without argument provided Respondent WVBPH with access to all of his patient charts for those patients who had undergone procedures in the month of October 2013. App. 789. After reviewing those charts, contacting patients, and communicating with area hospitals, Respondent WVBPH was not able to identify any other patient of Dr. Chalifoux's who had developed a bacterial infection. App. 789. In fact, in her deposition, Dr. Bixler commended Dr. Chalifoux for his initial cooperation in the investigation and explained that all communication between her division and Dr. Chalifoux ceased after his counsel responded to a letter from Respondent Tierney questioning Respondent WVBPH's rationale and authority for requesting more and more patient information from Dr. Chalifoux:

[Q:] . . . Was there anything that you asked for during the course of that first site inspection that you wanted to see while you were on site that you were not given the opportunity to see?

[A:] I have stated and will state again that Dr. - that the physician was very open and very - communicated with us completely. It very collegial part a investigation. Every question we asked we got an answer to. When we asked to see vials, bags, and talk [sic] pictures of them, we were allowed to do that. It was - there was - in in that early phase investigation, there was complete

collaboration between the investigators and the physician staff.

. . .

[Q:] . . . Now, during the course of the second site inspection, did you find Dr. Chalifoux to be cooperative?
[A:] Yes.

•

. . .

[Q:] So with respect to the information that you needed for your crossmatch, did you receive all that information?

[A:] Yes.

[Q:] And did you receive it in a timely fashion?

[A:] Yes.

. . .

[Q:]... Up through the time that Dr. Chalifoux completed and returned this questionnaire to you, was Dr. Chalifoux open and cooperative with you?

[A:] He was very open and cooperative through the completion of the crossmatch. During the conversations in April, it was increasingly difficult to talk to him, and he was not as responsive.

App. 789-790, 808-814 (from Deposition of Dr. Bixler taken in a related matter styled Williams v. Chalifoux).

Having found no other cases of bacterial meningitis potentially related to Dr. Chalfioux's practice during their investigation, Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim began to focus on an entirely different concern - the risk of blood borne diseases such

as hepatitis and HIV despite the fact that the initial patient did not have a blood borne disease. App. 790. Dr. Bixler claims that Dr. Chalifoux told them that he "double-dipped", i.e., that he reused syringes to access medication vials used for more than one patient. App. 790. It is important to note that there is not a single note or other document from either Dr. Bixler or Dr. Ibrahim from their first site inspection to support this claim of double-dipping, which Dr. Chalifoux denies. App. 790-791.

Importantly, Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim never observed Dr. Chalifoux engage in this practice during either of Respondent WVBPH's two site inspections (and the associated observed procedures). App. 791. Respondent WVBPH returned to Dr. Chalifoux' office for a second site inspection on December 19, 2013 at which time Dr. Bixler observed Dr. Chalifoux perform an epidural steroid injection. App. 791. Nevertheless, Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim inexplicably developed the belief that this worrisome practice of double-dipping was regularly employed by Dr. Chalifoux. App. 791. Dr. Chalifoux denies engaging in this practice and contends that Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim's belief was mistaken. App. 791.

For reasons not completely understood by Dr. Chalifoux, Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim wrongly concluded that Dr. Chalifoux described injection practices whereby he routinely re-entered medication vials with syringes which had come into contact with

the patient's spine and then subsequently used those same vials for other patients' procedures. App. 791. Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim did not take a recorded statement from Dr. Chalifoux. App. 791. Moreover, despite the fact that several of Respondent WVBPH representatives took extensive notes during the October 29, 2013 site inspection, there is not a single contemporaneous note by Dr. Bixler, Dr. Ibrahim, or anyone else reflecting that Dr. Chalifoux admitted to this practice of double-dipping. App. 791. In fact, Respondent WVBPH's December 11, 2013 report describes a follow-up telephone interview with Dr. Chalifoux conducted by Dr. Bixler on November 5, 2013, wherein Dr. Chalifoux explained to Dr. Bixler that he did not re-enter vials and, instead, prepared additional amounts of solution before the procedure and stored them in a tub on his procedure tray so that he would not have to re-access the vial if additional solution was needed during the procedure. App. Notwithstanding this clarification by Dr. Chalifoux, 791. Respondent WVBPH wrongfully concluded that Dr. Chalifoux was reentering medication vials during procedures with contaminated syringes and then subsequently re-using those vials for other patients' procedures. App. 791-792.

After completing its second site inspection at Petitioner Valley Pain Management on December 19, 2013, Respondent WVBPH issued a second report dated January 7, 2013 (the report was mistakenly dated January 7, 2013 rather than January 7, 2014.)

App. 792. While Respondent WVBPH continued to be concerned about the potential for blood borne disease transmission based upon its mistaken belief that Dr. Chalifoux had been re-using syringes, Respondent WVBPH commended Dr. Chalifoux for his rapid response to its recommendations after the first site inspection on October 29, 2013:

Additional Recommendations

- We commend the physician and clinic team for rapid and complete response to the issues raised during the previous site visit.
- Clinic procedures are excellent. However we have a few suggestions as noted above in 'results.' We commend the clinic nurse for rapidly complling a manual with 'best practices.'
- Infection control practices during the observed epidural procedure were markedly improved. However we offer a few suggestions:
 - Make sure a sufficient area of skin is disinfected to overlap with the aperture in the sterile drape.
 - Allow povidone lodine to fully dry before initiating the procedure.
 - Disinfect the diaphragm of all sterile vials including those newly opened with 70% alcohol before access with needles.
 - Continue to use single dose medications during invasive procedures.
 - There is some controversy in the literature surrounding use of glass ampules for injection. Some authorities recommend using a filter to avoid aspiration of glass shards into a syringe. Use of 70% alcohol on the neck before breaking the vial is also recommended by some. However, there is little recent data on this issue and CDC does not offer a specific recommendation. The clinic should evaluate this practice and determine if use of single-dose vials is a feasible resolution to this conundrum.

App. 792 (emphasis added).

However, based upon its concerns that Dr. Chalifoux had previously reused syringes, Respondent WVBPH, in January 2014, requested additional medical records from Dr. Chalifoux - records that Dr. Bixler conceded were freely provided by Dr. Chalifoux. App. 793. Specifically, Respondent WVBPH requested

that Dr. Chalifoux provide it with the charts of all patients of Valley Pain Management who had been treated between July 1, 2012 and June 30, 2013. App. 793. Dr. Bixler and her team of investigators then used this information, which was admittedly timely provided by Dr. Chalifoux, to cross-reference the State's hepatitis and HIV registries in order to determine if any of those patients had been reported as having contracted hepatitis or HIV in order to further evaluate whether there was a risk to Dr. Chalifoux's patients of transmission of blood borne diseases. App. 793.

Respondent WVBPH's crossmatch analysis was completed in February 2014. App. 793. In its crossmatch, Respondent WVBPH identified seven Valley Pain Management patients who had chronic hepatitis C infections. App. 793. Importantly, Respondent WVBPH never concluded that any of these individuals contracted their hepatitis C infection from Dr. Chalifoux. App. 793. In fact, Respondent WVBPH's internal documents reveal that three of these patients had laboratory confirmed hepatitis C infections prior to undergoing a procedure with Dr. Chalifoux. App. 793, 815. Dr. Bixler expressly confirmed in her deposition that no Respondent WVBPH representative reached the conclusion that Dr. Chalifoux caused any of these individuals to contract hepatitis C. App. 793. Rather, Respondent WVBPH simply concluded that these patients with chronic hepatitis C infections could potentially

serve as source patients if Dr. Chalifoux engaged in the practices
Respondent WVBPH mistakenly believed he did.

After completing the patient crossmatch and evaluating Respondent WVBPH's investigation, on February 24, 2014, Dr. Bixler authored a memorandum concluding that "there is no evidence of transmission of hepatitis B, hepatitis C, or HIV in this subset of patients...On the basis of these findings, no further action is necessary...". App. 793-794, 815.

Upon Dr. Bixler and her team's determination that there was no evidence of transmission or need for further action, Respondent WVBPH shared this conclusion with the State of Ohio and informed Ohio that it was prepared to close its investigation of Dr. Chalifoux:

From: Thomas, Carrie A [mailto:Carrie A.Thomas@wv.gov]
Sent: Wednesday, February 26, 2014 1:13 PM
To: Mohr, Marika
Cc: File, Sarsh E
Subject: PW: Pain clinic cross-metch results

HI Marika,

Below is a summary of our findings from a cross-match of our Hepstitis and HIV registries with WV residents seen at the pain clinic we have been investigating after an OH resident was diagnosed with meningitis following an epidural injection. We have not yet shared this information with the clinic. We wanted to share it with you first and see whether or not you wanted to do your own cross-match with OH residents seen at the clinic? We have the name and date of birth information for Ohio residents see by the clinic from 7/1/12 – 6/30/13, which we can share with you if needed.

If you would please let me know how Ohio would like to proceed, I'd appreciate it. I believe we are ready to close the investigation on our end, but we will walt to do so if you want to do your own cross-match.

Thanks again for all your assistance with this investigation.

Regards, Carrie

App. 794, 816 (emphasis added).

In her deposition, Dr. Bixler testified that she later changed her decision about closing the investigation and determined pursue additional information. to App. Accordingly, in March 2014, Respondent WVBPH requesting that Dr. Chalifoux provide it with additional information about his practices so that it could try to identify which patients should be notified about a potential risk of disease transmission. App. 795. Specifically, in order to further evaluate the injection practices employed by Dr. Chalifoux, Dr. Bixler and Dr. Ibrahim developed a "Physician Questionnaire" to be provided to Dr. Chalifoux. App. 795. Dr. Chalifoux cooperated with Respondent WVBPH's requests and completed the Physician App. 795. That questionnaire, however, was Ouestionnaire. admittedly poorly designed - Dr. Bixler conceded at her deposition that the questionnaire did not ask the appropriate questions to establish that Dr. Chalifoux did in fact "double dip" by reusing medication vials on other patients after they had been re-entered during a procedure. App. 795, 811-812.

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