# FILE COPY

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRG

NO. 21-0902

ROLAND F. CHALIFOUX, JR., D.O., individually and ROLAND F. CHALIFOUX, JR., D.O., PLLC d/b/a VALLEY PAIN MANAGEMENT CLINIC,

Plaintiffs below, Petitioners,





V.

WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES WEST VIRGINIA BUREAU OF PUBLIC HEALTH, LETITIA TIERNEY, M.D., J.D., individually and in her former capacity as WV Commissioner and State Health Officer; WEST VIRGINIA BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE, and DIANA SHEPARD, individually and in her capacity as Executive Director for the West Virginia Board of Osteopathic Medicine,

Defendants below, Respondents.

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

Petitioners did not assert any breach of a duty in their Complaint regarding the alleged failure of Respondents to hold a 15-day hearing after the summary suspension. See App. 6-20. The 15-day hearing issue in the case below is wholly irrelevant and a red herring that Petitioners have attempted to utilize to confuse the issues in the case below. As a result, the Respondents were entitled to summary judgment and dismissal of the case below in its entirety on the basis of qualified immunity.

Assuming for the sake of argument, that the 15-day hearing issue is a part of the case below – which it is not – the Respondents are still entitled to qualified immunity in regard to same. As stated above, after the summary suspension of Dr. Chalifoux's license, Petitioners and their counsel actively sought an informal resolution of the summary suspension issue. Supp. App. 5-8, App. 844. Although Petitioners were entitled to a 15-day hearing after the summary suspension under W. Va. Code of State Rules § 24-6-5.17, Petitioners actively declined said 15-day hearing. Thereafter, Petitioners' then counsel sought to resolve the matter informally without a 15-day hearing. See id. The matter could not be resolved informally, and Petitioners subsequently filed suit in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, WV, Civil Action No. 14-C-1504. See App. 845, 1301-1312.

Ultimately, Petitioners did not seek a 15-day hearing after the summary suspension and requested informal resolution instead. Respondents accommodated Petitioners' request and did not immediately hold a 15-day hearing. As a result of this accommodation, Petitioners now claim that Respondents are liable for damages for accommodating Petitioners' request to seek an informal resolution of the summary suspension instead of holding a 15-day hearing after the summary suspension, which is both non-sensical and disingenuous.

The Respondents assert that they are entitled to qualified immunity for their action in permitting Petitioners, by counsel, to discuss the matter informally in lieu of holding a 15-day hearing after the summary suspension. Such a decision is precisely the type of discretionary act that qualified immunity protects under West Virginia's qualified immunity jurisprudence. State v. Chase Securities, Inc., 188 W. Va. 356, 424 S.E.2d 591 (1992). Petitioners can point to no facts or evidence that demonstrate that Respondents' actions after the summary suspension were malicious, fraudulent, or oppressive in any respect, as to defeat qualified immunity.

In summary, the Respondents were also entitled to summary judgment and dismissal of the case below, with prejudice, on the basis of qualified immunity.

# III. The Respondents Were Entitled To Summary Judgment On The Case Below On The Basis of Quasi-Judicial Immunity

Although the Circuit Court did not grant Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis of quasi-judicial immunity, the Circuit Court did rule that quasi-judicial immunity applies to Respondents' decision to summarily suspend Dr. Chalifoux's license. App. 1429-1430. As discussed above, the issue of whether a 15-day hearing should have been conducted after the summary suspension of Dr. Chalifoux's license was not at issue in the case below. For the reasons set forth more fully below, Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment in the case below should have also been granted on the basis of quasi-immunity with respect to all actions of Respondents.

The Supreme Court of the United States has also held that the special functions of some governmental officials require that they be exempted completely from such liability. *See Butz v. Economou*, 438 U.S. 478, 508, 57 L. Ed. 2d 895, 98 S. Ct. 2894 (1978) (recognizing "that there are some officials whose special functions require a full exemption from liability"). Such officials include judges performing judicial acts within their jurisdiction, *see Pierson v. Ray*, 386 U.S. 547, 553-54, 18 L. Ed. 2d 288, 87 S. Ct. 1213 (1967), prosecutors performing acts "intimately

associated with the judicial phase of the criminal process," *Imbler v. Pachtman*, 424 U.S. 409, 430, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128, 96 S. Ct. 984 (1976), and "quasi-judicial" agency officials whose duties are comparable to those of judges or prosecutors when adequate procedural safeguards exist, *see Butz*, 438 U.S. at 511-17.

West Virginia has always subscribed to the common law rule that a judge is not civilly liable for any action taken in the exercise of her judicial duties, and thus, when acting in her judicial capacity, she is immune from civil liability for any and all official acts. *Fausler v. Parsons et als.*, 6 W.Va. 486, 492 (1873); *State ex rel. Payne v. Mitchell*, 152 W.Va. 448, 164 S.E.2d 201 (1968).

Regarding an analysis of the quasi-judicial immunity doctrine, the case law in West Virginia is limited. However, this Court has held that quasi-judicial entities are entitled to absolute immunity from liability from suit. *Parkulo* 199 W. Va. at 179, 583 S.E.2d at 525. In pertinent part, this Court held:

[w]e turn now to the application of these principles to the case before us. First, contrary to appellant's contentions, we conclude that, in cases arising under W.Va. Code § 29-12-5, the Board of Probation and Parole, being a quasi-judicial body, is entitled to absolute immunity from tort liability for acts or omissions in the exercise of its judicial function, unless such immunity is expressly waived by the applicable insurance contract. In reaching this conclusion, we have reviewed and we now adopt the following rationale which was well stated in Pate v. Alabama Board of Pardons and Paroles, 409 F. Supp. 478 (1976):

Parole officials bear a more than ordinary responsibility because of the dangerous traits already demonstrated by those with whom they must deal. This responsibility imposes far greater moral burdens and requires far more difficult legal choices than those met by the average administrative officer. The function of the Parole Board is more nearly akin to that of a judge in imposing sentence and granting or denying probation than it is to that of an executive administrator. It is essential to the proper administration of criminal justice that those who determine whether an individual shall remain incarcerated or be set free should do so without concern over possible personal liability at law for such criminal acts as some parolee will inevitably commit; in other words, that such official should be able to

exercise independent judgment without pressure of personal liability for acts of the subject of their deliberations.

Parkulo, 199 W. Va. at 179, 583 S.E.2d at 525. (emphasis added).

Although there is no decision on point from this Court that specifically applies the doctrine of quasi-judicial immunity to a medical licensure board in this State, there are many persuasive and illustrative cases from other courts throughout the United States, which have specifically held that quasi-judicial immunity bars a plaintiff's claims for damages against a medical licensure board or public official who performs quasi-judicial functions. In fact, many federal courts of appeals that have addressed the issue has concluded that members of a state medical disciplinary board are entitled to absolute quasi-judicial immunity for performing judicial or prosecutorial functions. Ostrzenski v. Seigel, 177 F.3d 245, 251 (4th Cir. 1999); O'Neal v. Mississippi Bd. of Nursing, 113 F.3d 62, 65-67 (5th Cir. 1997); Wang v. New Hampshire Bd. of Registration in Med., 55 F.3d 698, 701 (1st Cir. 1995); Serven v. Health Question Chiropractic, Inc., 319 Mich. App. 245, 255-256 (MI Ct. of App. 2017) (quasi-judicial immunity is frequently extended to a medical licensing board charged with hearing license suspension and revocation matters); Watts v. Burkhart, 978 F.2d 269, 272-78 (6th Cir. 1992) (en banc) (the act of revoking a physician's license . . . is likely to stimulate a litigious reaction from the disappointed physician, making the need for absolute immunity apparent); Quatkemeyer v. Ky Bd. of Med. Licensure, 506 Fed. Appx. 342, 346 2012 U.S. App. LEXIS 24197 (6th Cir. 2012); Bettencourt v. Board of Registration in Med., 904 F.2d 772, 782-84 (1st Cir. 1990); Olsen v. Idaho St. Bd. of Med., 363 F.3d 916, 925-926, 2004 U.S. App. LEXIS 6670 (9th Cir. 2004); Horwitz v. State Bd. of Med. Exam'rs, 822 F.2d 1508, 1512-16 (10th Cir. 1987); and Serven v. Health Quest Chiropractic, Inc., 319 Mich. App. 245, 255-256 (2017).

The rationale underlying the decisions from these various jurisdictions is that medical disciplinary boards satisfy the criteria established by the United States Supreme Court in *Butz* and

receive absolute immunity because: (1) the boards perform essentially judicial and prosecutorial functions; (2) there exists a strong need to ensure that individual board members perform their functions for the public good without harassment and intimidation; and (3) there exist adequate procedural safeguards under state law to protect against unconstitutional conduct by board members without reliance on private damages lawsuits. See, e.g., O'Neal, 113 F.3d at 66; Bettencourt, 904 F.2d at 783.

Under our facts, it is without dispute that the Board is a quasi-judicial agency created for the purpose of regulating the practice of osteopathic medicine and surgery in the state of West Virginia. W. Va. Code § 30-14-1, et seq. Likewise, Diana Shepard, as the Executive Director of the Board, is a public official whose duties include overseeing the licensing of new applicants and ensuring that they meet competency requirements, as well as collecting information regarding licensed physicians for any potential disciplinary action by the board. See App. 868-882. Accordingly, the Board and Ms. Shepard, at all times relevant to this proceeding, were simply acting consistently with their statutory quasi-judicial duties. And, as discussed herein, there is no evidence in this case that establishes that either the Board or Ms. Shepard acted maliciously, vexatiously, or fraudulently in any way.

First, under the standard established by *Butz*, the Board and Ms. Shepard were performing quasi-judicial functions when summarily suspending Dr. Chalifoux's license without a hearing. Certainly, the act of summary suspension of an osteopathic physician's license is quasi-judicial in nature and invokes the necessary protections of absolute immunity via the quasi-judicial immunity doctrine. Likewise, Respondents' decision to allow Petitioners – at Petitioners' own request – to seek an informal resolution and not immediately hold a hearing within 15 days of the summary suspension is also a discretionary decision that is subject to quasi-judicial immunity.

Second, there exists a strong need to ensure that the Respondents, via the individual board members and employees, such as Ms. Shepard, be able to perform their respective functions for the public good, without harassment and intimidation from lawsuits or claimants who are disgruntled, or have criticisms of the Board's decision because their medical license was subject to discipline, suspension, or revocation.

Finally, there exist adequate procedural safeguards under West Virginia law to protect against unconstitutional conduct by board members without reliance on private damages lawsuits. The Board is governed by West Virginia statutory schemes and the West Virginia Code of State Rules that govern procedures associated with the regulation of osteopathic physicians in West Virginia. Critically, Petitioners did not object to informal resolution, but instead actively sought out informal resolution after the summary suspension of the Petitioner's license.

In summary, the Respondents were at all times exercising their quasi-judicial functions in this case. The decision by the Board to summarily suspend Dr. Chalifoux's license was a quasi-judicial act and Respondents were entitled to summary judgment on the basis of quasi-judicial immunity. Further, the issue of a 15-day hearing after the summary suspension was not asserted by Petitioners in the case below and therefore, the Respondents were entitled to summary judgment and dismissal with prejudice on this basis as well.

All other actions of the Respondents following the summary suspension of Dr. Chalifoux's license fall within that quasi-judicial role and are likewise protected by absolute immunity. Therefore, the Respondents are absolutely immune from liability under the doctrine of quasi-judicial immunity and were entitled to summary judgment and dismissal of the case below, with prejudice, on the basis of the same.

### IV. The Respondents Were Entitled To Summary Judgment In The Case Below Regarding Petitioners' Negligence Claim

The Circuit Court did not grant Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on Petitioners' negligence claim. See App. 1430-1432. In its Order, the Circuit Court stated that the Petitioners' alleged "that Defendant owed a duty to conduct a hearing within 15 days of his license being summarily suspended." Id. at 1431. However, no such allegation was made in Petitioners' Complaint in the case below as it pertains to their claims against the Respondents. See App. 6-20. For the reasons set forth more fully below, Respondents were entitled to summary judgment on Petitioners' negligence claim because they did not owe a duty of care to the Petitioners with respect to providing a hearing before the summary suspension of Dr. Chalifoux's license.

This Court has long held that "[i]n order to establish a prima facie case of negligence in West Virginia, it must be shown that the defendant has been guilty of some act or omission in violation of a duty owed to the plaintiff. No action for negligence will lie without a duty broken." Aikens v. Debow, 208 W. Va. 486, 490, 541 S.E.2d 576, 580 (2000). Critically, the determination of whether a defendant in a given case owes a duty to the plaintiff is not a factual question for the jury. Id. Instead, "the determination of whether a plaintiff is owed a duty of care by the defendant must be rendered as a matter of law by the court." Id. (emphasis added).

With regard to whether Respondents can summarily suspend the license of an osteopathic physician in this State, West Virginia Code § 30-1-8(e)(1) states as follows:

- (e) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, no certificate, license, registration or authority issued under the provisions of this chapter may be suspended or revoked without a prior hearing before the board or court which issued the certificate, license, registration or authority, except:
- A board is authorized to suspend or revoke a certificate, license, registration or authority <u>prior to a hearing</u> if the person's continuation in practice constitutes an <u>immediate danger to the public</u>;

West Virginia Code § 30-1-8(e)(1) (emphasis added).

As set forth above, the entirety of Petitioners' claims against the Respondents in the case below were as follows:

- 94. BOM and Shepard had a <u>duty</u> to afford Plaintiffs due process including notice of any complaint against it and an opportunity to be heard <u>prior</u> to any suspension of his license.
- 95. BOM and Shepard breached <u>said duty</u> by summarily suspending Dr. Chalifoux's license without ever conducting a hearing.
- 96. As a direct and proximate result of BOM and Shepard's breach of <u>said duty</u>, Plaintiffs suffered damages, including, but not limited to, lost wages and earning capacity, attorneys' fees and expenses, loss of reputation, increased medical malpractice insurance premiums, emotional distress, aggravation, annoyance, and inconvenience and such other damages as will come to light through discovery.

Id. (emphasis added).

Petitioners' claims relate to the alleged duty of care owed by the Respondents to provide Dr. Chalifoux notice of any complaint against him *prior* to suspension of his medical license. As set forth in the Circuit Court's Order in the case below, no such duty of care was owed. App. 1430-1432. The Circuit Court's holding in this regard was correct. However, because Petitioners did not allege in their Complaint in the case below that they were entitled to a 15-day hearing after the summary suspension, they are precluded from seeking the same. Even if the Petitioners alleged in the Complaint in the case below they were damaged by a lack of a 15-day hearing after the summary suspension (which they did not), the Respondents were still entitled to summary judgment because the 15-day hearing was waived an informal resolution was sought by the Petitioners. In summary, the Respondents were entitled to summary judgment on the Petitioners' fatally flawed negligence claim.

### CONCLUSION

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